1987

In Re: John S. Davis : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Does the Utah State Bar have jurisdiction to hold disciplinary proceedings on Mr. Davis under Formal Complaint #F-198?

2. Is the Utah State Bar's Recommendation for disciplinary action excessive and inequitable?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John S. Davis, a member of the Utah State Bar, was charged by information with theft, a second degree felony (Ex. 4, Pg. 3). A jury found him guilty on October 20, 1982 (Ex. 4, Pg. 164). The trial court reduced defendant's conviction to one for a third degree felony and placed him on probation on November 26, 1982 (Ex. 4, Pg. 235 - 37). That probation was terminated by the trial court in October, 1985 (R. 244 in Brief of Appellant filed Feb. 5, 1987).

In early 1982 the Utah State Bar began disciplinary proceedings #F-137 against Mr. Davis based upon the actions which gave rise to the criminal action (R. 11 of #F-137). The Utah

State Bar made a motion to this Court to have Mr. Davis placed on Interim Suspension (R. 16 of #F-137) before the criminal trial, but that motion was denied (R. 19 of #F-137). Following the criminal trial, that motion was renewed and Mr. Davis was placed on Interim Suspension by order of this Court dated March 7, 1983 (R. 29 of #F-137).

On January 4, 1984 the Utah State Bar's Complaint #F-137 was amended to include a second count alleging the conviction by the trial court (R. 53 of #F-137). Mr. Davis challenged the procedural correctness in bringing about the second count, and the matter was referred back to the Ethics and Discipline Committee to correct the defective procedure. The Ethics Committee issued formal complaint #F-190 (R. 27 of #F-198, paragraphs #13 and #14. See also Appellant's motion to supplement the record for the full content of #F-190) which was essentially a duplicate of the second count of #F-137. Complaint #F-190 also contained procedural defects, so it was dismissed (R. 27 of #F-198, paragraphs #13 and #14) and Complaint #F-198 was issued in its stead (R. 25 of #F-198)

The second count of #F-137 was dismissed at that point because it was a duplication of Complaint #F-198 (R. 161 of #F-137). The two complaints, #F-137 and #F-198 were then consolidated (R.164-165 of #F-137). One month before the Panel Hearing, the first count of #F-137 was dismissed (R. 231 of #F-137) and the hearing was held on the allegations of Complaint #F-198, which resulted in the Findings, Conclusions and Recommendation now on appeal before this Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The pertinent facts in this case are in the dates and the sequence of the documents that were filed in this case and the bearing that they have on the jurisdiction of the Board of Commissioners of the Utah State Bar and also the reasonableness of the discipline which is recommended.

The Order for Interim Suspension from the practice of law was issued March 7, 1983, but the amendment to add the allegation of the conviction was not initiated until Aug. 29, 1983 (R. 37 of #F-137) and accepted until Dec. 15, 1983 (R. 49 of #F-137). Complaint #F-190, replacing the allegations of count II were filed March 6, 1985 (Referred to in R. 27 of #F-198, para. #13 & #14), and Complaint #F-198 was filed April 30, 1985, replacing #F-190 (R. 25 of #F-198). On October 28, 1985 the Panel ordered consolidation of #F-137 and #F-198 and dismissal of count II of #F-137 at the request of Bar Counsel (R. 164 of #F-137). On April 10, 1986, count I of #F-137 was dismissed by stipulation (R. 231 of #F-137). The Panel Hearing was May 15, 1986.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The authority and jurisdiction to discipline a member of the Utah State Bar is given to the Board of Bar Commissioners and their delegated committees by the Rules of Discipline of the Utah State Bar. They cannot exceed the jurisdiction that is specifically given to them.

The procedural rules in this case have been compounded in such a way as to cause an excessive and inequitable burden on the Defendant if the recommendation of the Bar is accepted.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE UTAH STATE BAR LACKED JURISDICTION IN FORMAL COMPLAINT #F-198 BECAUSE MR. DAVIS WAS NOT A MEMBER IN GOOD STANDING AT THE TIME IT WAS FILED.

The Rules of Discipline of the Utah State Bar, which were in effect in April of 1985, when Formal Complaint #F-198 was filed, say in Rule III, DEFINITIONS, that "A 'member of the Bar' refers to a lawyer in good standing on the official roster of attorneys of the Supreme Court of Utah and the Utah State Bar." Rule VII, DISCIPLINE AND SANCTIONS, says in sub-paragraph (b), "Suspension of a lawyer shall remove said individual as a member of the Bar of the Court in good standing" Sub-paragraph (b)(1) says ". . . the Court may issue an interim order suspending a lawyer . . .", which is what this Court did to Mr. Davis on March 7, 1983. That Order has remained in effect to this date. Rule VIII, COMPLAINT OF UNPROFESSIONAL CONDUCT, is the Rule that gives the Utah State Bar jurisdiction to impose disciplinary proceedings, but that jurisdiction has been limited to a "member of the Bar", which has been defined as a member in good standing.

POINT II

THE UTAH STATE BAR LACKED JURISDICTION IN FORMAL COMPLAINT #F-198 BECAUSE THE ALLEGATIONS CONTAINED IN THAT COMPLAINT BECAME MOOT AFTER THE SAME ALLEGATIONS HAD BEEN PREVIOUSLY VOLUNTARILY DISMISSED TWICE IN FORMAL COMPLAINTS #F-137 and #F-190.

Rule XII, DISCIPLINARY HEARING BEFORE COMMISSION, of The Rules of Discipline of the Utah State Bar, and also

the new Procedures of Discipline of the Utah State Bar, adopted in September of 1985, state in Rule XII(b) "The rules of evidence and procedure applicable to the conduct of non-jury civil trials in the District Courts of the State of Utah shall govern the hearing on a Formal Committee Complaint." Rule 41(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure says that ". . . a notice of dismissal operates as an adjudication upon the merits when filed by a plaintiff who has once dismissed in any court of the United States or of any state an action."

In this case, the allegations of the conviction were dismissed twice by the voluntary action of Bar Counsel in Complaint #F-137 and Complaint #F-190. Therefore, when Count I of Complaint #F-137 was voluntarily dismissed one month prior to the Panel Hearing, the Board of Commissioners lost jurisdiction to discipline Mr. Davis on these matters.

POINT III

IT IS EXCESSIVE AND INEQUITABLE DISCIPLINE TO DISBAR MR. DAVIS AFTER HAVING HIM ON INTERIM SUSPENSION FOR OVER FOUR YEARS DURING THE PENDENCY OF THE DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS.

The maximum time period for suspension is two years, and an attorney, under the rules, may begin to apply for re-admission after five years from the date of disbarment. If this Court orders disbarment of Mr. Davis now, it will be a minimum of nine years that he will have been prevented from practicing law before he can begin to apply for readmission. That is excessive and inequitable by the normal standards, and in this particular case it is aggravated by the fact that

Bar Counsel had to issue three consecutive Formal Complaints and several amendments before this matter was finally brought to a hearing, and then one month before the hearing the allegations of the first count were voluntarily dismissed.

CONCLUSION

Because the Board of Commissioners of the Utah State Bar lacked jurisdiction to discipline Mr. Davis on the matters before it, the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and the Recommendations should be reversed. This Court should decide that if disciplinary action is necessary, that the four years that Mr. Davis has spent on interim suspension is sufficient and should order termination of that suspension.