1986

In Re: John S. Davis : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the Utah State Bar have jurisdiction to hold disciplinary proceedings on Appellant in F-198?
2. Is the Utah State Bar's recommendation of disbarment excessive and inequitable?

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF UTAH

| | | |
|---------------|---|-----------------|
| In Re: | : | |
| | : | Case No. 870051 |
| JOHN S. DAVIS | : | |
| | : | Priority No. 4 |
| | : | |

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the recommendation of the Utah State Bar, by and through its Board of Bar Commissioners, that Appellant be disbarred.

In November 1982 Appellant was convicted of second degree felony theft, for which he was sentenced as a third degree felony. In March 1983 Appellant was placed on Interim Suspension, pending completion of disciplinary action. In May 1986 a disciplinary trial was held and in November 1986 the hearing panel issued its Findings, Conclusions and Recommendations to the Board of Bar Commissioners, which affirmed them in January 1987.

Since February 5, 1987, those Findings, Conclusions and Recommendation of Disbarment have been pending in this court. It is from that recommendation and underlying findings that this appeal has been taken by Appellant.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In October 1982 Appellant was convicted by a jury of Theft, a Second Degree Felony, in the Fourth Judicial District Court of the State of Utah in and for Utah County (R. 19). On November 26, 1982, Judge Don Tibbs entered the conviction as a Third Degree Felony and placed Appellant on probation. (R. 14 of F-198) The conviction was based upon evidence that in 1979 Appellant diverted to his own use approximately \$73,279.45 that belonged to his clients, Charley Joseph and Joseph Mascaro, who were investment partners in a real estate venture. (R. 13 of F-198) In 1980 Appellant was sued by Mascaro and another to recover their share of the \$141,037.09 paid by Chatillon, Inc., to Appellant, who received the money as attorney for the investment partnership and who had diverted and spent the bulk of it as his own. (R. 09 of F-198)

In connection with that litigation Appellant was deposed in June 1981 and stated under oath that he was still holding the money received from Chatillon in his trust account, whose location he refused to disclose. (R. 09 of F-198, Exhibit 5) Eventually the civil trial court ordered disclosure of Appellant's bank records. Contrary to what Appellant had represented, the funds received from Chatillon had been fully exhausted. (R. 09 of F-198) (For greater detail of these facts that underlie the criminal conduct and the civil action, see a copy of the 1984 Utah Supreme Court

decision affirming the criminal conviction and a subsequent related appeal attached as Addendum A.)

Contemporaneous with the criminal action was a complaint filed with the Utah State Bar by Charley Joseph in January 1982. (R. 98 of F-137) The ensuing Bar complaint alleged illegal conduct involving moral turpitude [DR 1-102(A)(3)] and misconduct in failing to pay a client monies held by Appellant and requested by the client and failing to properly account for client funds [DR 9-102(B)(3&4)]. (R.96 of F-137) (See Addendum B)

A Screening Panel of the Ethics and Discipline Committee determined that a Formal Complaint should issue and F-137 was filed (R. 10 of F-137)(Addendum C), alleging violations of Rule III and Rule IV of the Procedures of Discipline (See Addendum D for pertinent Rules) and subsections (5) and (6) of DR 1-102(A), in addition to those previously alleged. (See Addendum D for pertinent Rule and DR violations)

On motion of the Bar Counsel, for the Ethics and Discipline Committee and the Board of Bar Commissioners, Appellant was placed in Interim Suspension by this court March 7, 1983. (R. 29 of F-137)

Subsequently in January 1984, Bar Counsel was permitted to file an Amended Complaint (R. 35 of F-137)(Addendum E), which left the original allegations of F-137 as Count I, but as a result of Appellant's criminal conviction, added Count II, alleging Appellant had now violated Rule II, Section 4

and Canon 1, DR 1-102(A)(4) of the Revised Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule II(a) of the Procedures of Discipline, and Rule C, paragraph 23 of the Rules for Integration and Management of the Utah State Bar. (See Addendum F for Integration Rule)

Pursuant to a January 31, 1985, Order of Hearing Panel Chairman Gerald Kinghorn, Bar Counsel referred Count II of Amended F-137 to a Screening Panel for its consideration, as the Ethics and Discipline Committee had not reviewed those allegations before they were added to F-137. (R. 150 of F-137)(See Addendum G) A Formal Complaint was voted by the Ethics and Discipline Committee and it was issued as F-190.

On stipulation of Appellant and Bar Counsel, F-190 was dismissed without prejudice in April 1985 (R. 27-28 of F-198)(Addendum H) and reissued in proper form as F-198, still alleging only violations related to Appellant's criminal conviction. (R. 24 of F-198)(Addendum I)

As a result of the January 31, 1985, Order, the Hearing Panel dismissed Count II of Amended F-137 and granted Bar Counsel's Motion to Consolidate F-137 with F-198, as F-198 alleged the misconduct formerly contained in Count II of Amended F-137. (R. 161, 164 of F-198)

Approximately one month prior to the disciplinary trial of May 15, 1986, Bar Counsel dismissed Count I of F-137, the only remaining count in that Formal Complaint. (R. 231 of F-137) On November 18, 1986, the Disciplinary Hearing Panel

entered its Findings, Conclusions, and Recommendation of Disbarment over the signatures of its three members, Gerald H. Kinghorn, Randon W. Wilson, and E. Allan Hunter. (R. 267 of F-137)(Addendum J)

Subsequently the Board of Bar Commissioners affirmed and adopted those Findings, Conclusions and Recommendations, which were filed February 5, 1987, with this court. (R. 272 of F-137)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Utah State Bar did have jurisdiction over Appellant in F-198. This court's Order of Interim Suspension did not act as a bar to any subsequent disciplinary action against Appellant.

Rule 41(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is not sound authority for Appellant's proposition that jurisdiction over him was lost by prior dismissals of similar allegations. The rules of evidence and procedure applicable to the conduct of non-jury civil trials apply only to the actual hearing on the Formal Complaint, not to all stages of the proceeding. Therefore, a disciplinary trial is a unique entity, not suited by its purpose to be perfectly analogous to civil trials.

The recommendation of disbarment is not excessive under the facts of this case and Appellant ought not receive benefit of any retroactivity of the sanction.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE UTAH STATE BAR HAD JURISDICTION OVER APPELLANT WHEN F-198 WAS ISSUED.

In 1985 Rule III(g) of the Procedures of Discipline of the Utah State Bar defined "member of the Bar" as "an attorney in good standing on the official roster of attorneys of the Supreme Court of Utah and the Utah State Bar." Rule VIII(a) provided then and now that "a disciplinary proceeding may be initiated against any member of the bar." Clearly the intent of Rule VIII is not served by the interpretation of these rules urged by Appellant, that he is immune from bar prosecution because he was not "a member in good standing" by dint of his interim suspension status.

In any event Appellant misconstrues Rule VII(b). (Addendum K) That section is a description of the sanction of suspension that is the culmination of a discipline proceeding against an attorney, where a Disciplinary Hearing Panel and the Board of Bar Commissioners have considered the matter and have made Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Recommendations of Discipline. The sanction of suspension, which may be for any period not to exceed two years, can only be ordered by the Utah Supreme Court after it has reviewed the record pursuant to Rules XIII and XIV of the Procedures of Discipline.

Interim Suspension, defined in Rule VII(b)(1-5), is a different kind of suspension. It is not a subset of the Suspension described in VII(b) but a unique status which may be order before the disciplinary process is concluded, prior to consideration of the misconduct by the Screening Panel of the Ethics and Discipline Committee or a Disciplinary Hearing Panel.

A suspension under VII(b) can be stayed by the court but interim suspension under VII(b) cannot. It is a mechanism to swiftly remove an attorney from the practice of law in order to protect the public prior to imposition of a sanction, which may or may not ultimately be suspension. (Temporary conditions of probation are also authorized by this section if such are needed to protect the public during the pendency of the disciplinary action.) The language of VII(b)(1) contemplates that such petitions may be prior to, concurrent with, or subsequent to the filing of Findings, Conclusions, and a Recommendation of Discipline with the court.

Consequently Appellant's reliance of his lack of good standing to fend off the imposition of a sanction by this court is misplaced. His interim suspension was merely his removal from the practice of law during the course of the disciplinary process; it was not a disciplinary sanction.

POINT II

JURISDICTION OF THE UTAH STATE BAR WAS NOT LOST BY
THE PRIOR DISMISSALS OF THE ALLEGATIONS OF
APPELLANT'S CRIMINAL CONVICTION.

Appellant claims that the Utah State Bar no longer has jurisdiction to prosecute him for his felony conviction because similar action against Appellant had previously been voluntarily dismissed. Appellant is wrong. Count II of F-137 was dismissed by the Disciplinary Hearing Panel (R. 161 of F-198), not by Bar Counsel, although he had filed a Motion to Dismiss. The Panel's Order was in response to Appellant's motion to strike that allegation as he had not had it considered by a Screening Panel and it was improperly included in the Formal Complaint. F-190 was expressly dismissed upon stipulation of the parties "without prejudice" so that Bar Counsel could return the matter to a Screening Panel for a proper determination. (See Addendum I)

This factual dispute aside, Appellant misapplies Rule XII(b) of the Procedures of Discipline by attempting to extend it beyond its defined limits -- the "hearing on a Formal Complaint." (Addendum L) Pre-trial motions and the significance thereof are not part of the hearing, which is the actual disciplinary trial and which is the only disciplinary procedure that must be reported electronically or stenographically. Rule XII(b) gives notice to the parties and the Disciplinary Hearing Panel of the character of the proceeding and the rules that will govern

admissibility of evidence. For example it puts an accused attorney on notice that he may be called to testify by the prosecutor, a procedure impermissible if the Rules of Criminal Procedure were followed.

Appellant's argument is flawed because he has a fundamental misunderstanding of the purpose of the attorney discipline process. The goal is not winning. The objectives are to protect the public and to ensure the integrity of the profession. Rule I(a) of the Procedures of Discipline states it thusly:

"The purpose of the attorney disciplinary proceedings is to ensure and maintain the high standard of professional conduct required of those who undertake the discharge of professional responsibilities as members of the Utah State Bar, and to protect the public and the administration of justice from those who have demonstrated by their conduct that they are unable or likely to be unable to properly discharge their public trust as attorneys and counselors."

Rule I(c) also makes it clear that "the rules are to be construed so as to achieve the spirit of professional discipline of the Utah State Bar, and to effect substantial justice and fairness." These objectives would be undermined by Appellant's technical argument, and the interest of justice ill-served by a finding that a convicted thief could hereby escape accountability to his profession.

In Re Strong, 616 P.2d 583, 585 (Utah 1980) set forth the unique nature of the disciplinary proceedings: "Thus, the preservation of the integrity of the courts and the safety of the public must rise above the strict technical rules of evidence that govern the usual adversary proceedings between individuals. This is not a proceeding to determine conflicting claims of right where one party prevails over the other."

POINT III

THE RECOMMENDATION OF DISBARMENT IS APPROPRIATE.

Appellant argues that because he has been on interim suspension for four years that disbarment would be unduly harsh. He correctly claims that a minimum of nine years will have to have passed from the date of his interim suspension before he can apply for readmission. While it may be true that in some circumstances such a sanction would be excessive, this is not such a case.

Appellant has been convicted of felony theft, a crime of moral turpitude. See In Re Pearce, 136 P.2d 969, 971 (Utah 1943); In the Matter of Charles W. Colson, 412 A.2d 1160, 1168 (1979); In Re Alvin E. Honoroff, 126 Cal. Rptr. 229, 543 P.2d 597 (1975). He stole approximately \$73,000 from his clients, an action that is particularly repugnant because it shattered a bond of professional and fiduciary trust. Then he lied under oath about the preservation of that money in trust accounts, further evidence of his lack

of moral fitness to practice law. (See Statement of Facts)
Appellant produced no mitigation for the Disciplinary Panel.

In In Re James Murrell Jones, 696 P.2d 1215 (Utah 1985) this court disbarred an attorney for his conviction of two counts of felony theft by deception, where no evidence in mitigation was presented or found. In a concurring opinion Associate Chief Justice I. Daniel Stewart expressed his view and that of Justice Zimmerman that the automatic disbarment authorized by Rule 23 of the Rules for Integration and Management of the Utah State Bar ought to be reserved for felonies that are malum in se, of which theft by deception is one. Even under that restriction, disbarment is the only appropriate sanction in this case under the circumstances of Appellant's conviction for felony theft.